COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT

- BETWEEN -

FAMILY DAY CARE SERVICES



- AND -

THE CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES AND ITS LOCAL 2563



January 1, 2024 – December 31, 2026

TABLE OF CONTENTS

GENERAL PURPOSE	4
ARTICLE 1 - UNION RECOGNITION	4
ARTICLE 2 - UNION SECURITY	
ARTICLE 3 - STRIKES AND LOCKOUTS	5
ARTICLE 4 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	5
ARTICLE 5 - UNION REPRESENTATIVES	
ARTICLE 6 - GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION PROCEDURES	8
ARTICLE 7- SENIORITY	10
ARTICLE 8 - LEAVES OF ABSENCE	13
ARTICLE 9 - HOLIDAYS	
ARTICLE 10 - VACATIONS	
ARTICLE 11 - HEALTH AND WELFARE BENEFITS	
ARTICLE 12 - VACANCIES	
ARTICLE 13 - LAYOFFS	27
ARTICLE 14 - GENERAL	
ARTICLE 15 - EXPENSES	
ARTICLE 16 - ENTIRE AGREEMENT	
ARTICLE 17 - CASUAL EMPLOYEES	
ARTICLE 18 - CONTRACT EMPLOYEES	37
ARTICLE 19 - HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME	38
ARTICLE 20 - DURATION OF THE AGREEMENT	40
SCHEDULE A	
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #2	44
Return to Work/Modified Work	44
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #3	45
Pay Equity Funding	45
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #4	
Implementation of 2024-2027 Agreement	
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #5	
Providing Information to the Union	
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #6	
Funding Distribution	48

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #7	49
PANDEMIC RESPONSE	49
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #8	50
GROUP BENEFITS	50
APPENDIX A	51

GENERAL PURPOSE

The general purpose of this Agreement is to maintain a harmonious relationship between the Agency and its employees and to provide an amicable method of settling any differences which may arise between them and to set forth the conditions of employment to be observed by the Agency.

ARTICLE 1 - UNION RECOGNITION

- 1.01 The Agency recognizes the Union as the bargaining agent for all employees of Family Day Care Services in the City of Toronto and the Region of York and Peel, save and except assistant supervisors, supervisors, persons above the rank of supervisor, home child caregivers, administrative staff and students employed during the school vacation or participating in a field placement program of an education institution.
 - Administrative staff includes office and clerical staff and includes consulting staff whose duties do not include work normally performed by employees in the following programs: Home Child Care and Child Care Centers.
- 1.02 The term "employee" and the term "employees" whenever used in this Agreement shall mean only those persons described in the bargaining unit set forth in Article 1.01.

1.03 **Definitions**

- a) Permanent employees are employees who have been hired into a permanent position with the Agency.
- b) Seconded employees are permanent employees who are temporarily working in a different classification.
- c) Casual employees are employees hired to cover short-term staff shortages such as those caused by absenteeism and vacation.
- d) Contract employees are employees hired for a specific duration or task(s) of not more than one (1) year (may be renewed for a period of up to six (6) months).

ARTICLE 2 - UNION SECURITY

2.01 The Agency agrees to deduct the regular monthly Union dues from the pay of employees. The Union shall notify the Agency in writing of the prevailing rate of Union dues. The amount so deducted will be forwarded to the National Secretary-Treasurer of the Union by the fifteenth (15th) day of the month following the month for which the deduction was made along with a list of names, home addresses, phone numbers and classifications of employees and the individual Union deductions made. The dues statement shall include the total regular wages paid to each employee during the month

- being reported. A copy of this list will be forwarded to the Secretary-Treasurer of the Local.
- 2.02 The Union agrees to defend and hold the Agency harmless against all claims, demands and expenses, should any person at any time claim that the Agency acted wrongfully or illegally in making such check-off deductions.

ARTICLE 3 - STRIKES AND LOCKOUTS

- 3.01 In view of the orderly procedure herein established by this Agreement of the settling of disputes and handing of grievances, the Union agreed that during the life of this Agreement its members will not sanction, call, nor participate in a strike, slowdown, refusal to perform work, picketing or other collective or individual interference with the operation of the Agency's business.
- 3.02 The Agency agrees that there shall be no lockout during the life of the Agreement.

ARTICLE 4 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

- 4.01 It is recognized and agreed that the Agency is a private organization dependent upon public and private funding and volunteer support. Policy is made through a Board of Directors representing the community and serving in a voluntary capacity. The Union acknowledges that the Agency must retain flexibility so that it can offer new or modified services to the community and pursue funding. Accordingly, nothing in this Agreement shall be intended or interpreted as limiting the ability of the Agency to respond to the needs of the community or the requirements of obtaining or continuing to obtain funding from various sources. Nor shall anything in this Agreement be interpreted as limiting the policy making role of the Board of Directors of the Agency. It is agreed that the Union may be consulted by the Agency from time to time in this process. The Union acknowledges and recognizes that all matters concerning the management of the Agency's operations and the direction of the working force are fixed exclusively with the Agency and shall remain solely with the Agency except as specifically limited by an express provision of this Agreement. Without restricting the generality of the foregoing, the Union acknowledges and recognizes that it is the exclusive function of the Agency to:
 - a) Maintain order and efficiency;
 - b) Hire, classify, transfer, promote, demote, and lay-off employees, and determine standards of performance, and work assignments;
 - Discharge, suspend, demote or discipline employees for just cause provided that employees who have completed their probationary period may pursue a grievance for any disciplinary action alleged to be without just cause;
 - d) Make, alter and enforce from time-to-time reasonable rules and regulations covering its employees;

- e) Generally, to manage the services in which the Agency engages or may become engaged and without in any way restricting the generality of the foregoing to determine the type of services to be provided and the programs to carry out those services and how such programs shall be structured and the location, staffing, supervision and control of the programs; and
- f) Take all steps as may be deemed advisable by the Agency to carry out the Agency's mandate to provide services to the community and to obtain funding to provide such services.
- 4.02 It is further agreed and understood by the parties that the Agency operates on both public and private funding and by its nature has very limited resources. It is therefore difficult for the Agency to support paid time off. Meetings between management and Union representatives will only take place during paid time with the consent of the Agency.

<u>ARTICLE 5 - UNION REPRESENTATIVES</u>

- 5.01 a) The Union shall notify the Agency in writing of the officers authorized to represent the Union in its relations with the Agency.
 - b) Stewards

The Union may elect or otherwise appoint one (1) steward per childcare centre and up to two (2) stewards per home childcare office from among the employees who have completed their probationary period to assist employees in presenting their grievances to the Agency. The Union acknowledges that the stewards have their regular work to perform on behalf of the Agency and must not leave work without permission to process a grievance or undertake any other union business. The Union shall notify the agency in writing of the name of the officers and the Agency shall not be required to recognize any employee as a steward without such notice in writing from the Union.

c) No Discrimination for Union Activity

The Employer and the Union agree that no discrimination, interference, restriction, or coercion should be exercised or practiced concerning any employee for reasons of membership or activity in the Union.

5.02 Union Management Committee

There shall be a Union / Management Committee composed of two (2) or more employees, up to a maximum of five (5), representing the Union and one or more members of management to provide an opportunity for informal discussions of any matter which is of mutual concern to the parties. At least two (2) of the employees representing the union shall be from childcare centers and EarlyON from across the Agency. The Union / Management Committee shall meet as necessary at a time and

place mutually agreeable to both parties. Either party may request the meeting. The party requesting the meeting shall supply an agenda to the other party prior to the meeting.

5.03 Labour Management Relations

No individual employee or group of employees shall undertake to represent the Union at meetings with the Agency without proper authorization of the Union. In order that this may be carried out, the Union will supply the Agency with the names of its officers. Similarly, the Agency will, if requested, supply the Union with a list of its supervisory or other personnel with whom the Union may be required to transact business.

5.04 **Bargaining Committee**

A Bargaining Committee shall be appointed and consist of not more than five (5) members of the Union at the bargaining table. At least two (2) members shall be Centre staff. The Union will advise the Agency of the Union nominees to the Committee and the names of alternates.

5.05 National Union Representative - Visits

A representative of the National Union will be entitled to visit the premises of the Agency provided that the National Union representative scheduled the visit in advance with the Agency at a time convenient to the Agency, contacts the Agency on arrival at the premises before speaking to any employees, and presents credentials to the Agency if requested. Under no circumstances will the National Union representative interfere with the work of any employee.

- 5.06 The Union agrees that it will not engage in Union activities during working hours or hold meetings at any time on the premises of the Agency without the prior permission of the Agency.
- 5.07 Potential New Employees The Agency agrees to acquaint potential new employees with the fact that a Union agreement is in effect.
- 5.08 All employees shall be given an opportunity to be interviewed by a representative of the Union within regular working hours, without loss of pay, prior to the employee's completion of the probationary period, for a maximum of thirty (30) minutes, for the purpose of acquainting the new employee with the benefits and duties of Union membership and her responsibilities and obligations to the Agency and the Union. If the Union representative is not already at the same location, there will be no cost to the Agency for the Union representative's travel time to the location.
- 5.09 Where an employee applies for a leave of absence under Article 8.01 of this Agreement, the Agency will forward a copy of the request and its response to the Union.
- 5.10 At the time of hiring, each new permanent employee shall receive a letter indicating her starting date, wage rate and classification. Copies of such letters shall be forwarded

to the Union within ten (10) working days. Each new permanent employee shall also receive a copy of the job description applicable at the time.

5.11 Right To Have a Steward Present

An employee shall have the right to have their Steward participate in any meeting with a representative(s) of the Employer that may lead to disciplinary action against the employee.

The supervisor or representative shall notify the employee, where possible, in advance of the meeting in order that the employee may arrange for their Steward to attend the meeting.

The employer must notify the employee of their right to union representation. Employees are entitled to have a steward present during any meeting with the employer, that could result in disciplinary action against them at that time.

To ensure that the employee's rights are upheld, the employer will notify the attending Steward before the meeting, allowing the Steward(s) to arrange their attendance.

Employees can have steward of their choice present subject to location coverage needs.

Where a Steward is not able to be physically present, the Steward may participate via teleconference.

5.12 Recognition and Rights of Stewards

The employer will recognize the steward elected by the union and shall not discriminate or retaliate against stewards for appropriately carrying out their duties.

ARTICLE 6 - GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION PROCEDURES

- 6.01 If an employee has a complaint relating to the interpretation, application or administration of this Agreement or where an employee alleges a violation of this Agreement, an earnest effort will be made to settle such complaint without delay in the following manner.
 - The employee must first discuss the complaint with their immediate supervisor (Centre Supervisor/Program Manager) or in their absence, the person above the Supervisor, and must do so within five (5) working days of the date upon which the incident giving rise to the complaint first occurred. The supervisor shall respond in writing within five (5) working days.

If the complaint is not settled at Step 1 and the employee wishes to pursue the complaint, a written grievance must be submitted to the employee's Program Manager/Director, HR within five (5) working days following the Step 1 answer, on a form to be provided for that purpose. The grievance form shall be signed by the employee and the Union Steward and shall indicate the nature of the grievance, and the Article of the Agreement alleged to be violated and the adjustment sought. The employee's Program Manager/Director, HR shall reply, in writing, to the grievance within five (5) working days following receipt of the written grievance. The employee's Program Manager/Director, HR may meet with the employee to discuss and try to resolve the grievance.

STEP 3 If the grievance is not settled at Step 2 and the employee wishes to pursue the grievance, the grievance must be submitted to the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of the Agency within five (5) working days following the Step 2 answer. The CEO shall reply, in writing, to the grievance within five (5) working days following receipt of the grievance. The parties may arrange for a meeting at Step 3 to discuss the grievance and the National Union Representative, Union Steward or Union Vice President may attend any such meeting.

6.02 **Policy Grievance**

A complaint or grievance arising directly between Family Day and the Union relating to the interpretation, application, administration or alleged violation of this Agreement, shall be originated at Step 3 in writing within five (5) working days of the date upon which the incident giving rise to the grievance occurred.

The CEO shall reply, in writing, to the grievance within five (5) working days following receipt of the grievance. The parties may arrange for a meeting to discuss the grievance and the National Union Representative, the Union Steward or the Union Vice President may attend any such meeting.

It is expressly understood, however, that the provisions of Section 6.02 may not be used with respect to a grievance directly affecting an employee which he/she could have instituted himself/herself in the regular grievance procedure.

6.03 **Employer Grievance**

Should the Agency wish to submit a grievance it shall do so in writing and the Union shall give its reply, in writing within five (5) working days following receipt of the grievance. The parties may arrange for a meeting to discuss the grievance and the National Union Representative, the Union Steward or the Union Vice-President may attend any such meeting.

6.04 Should any grievance fail to be satisfactorily settled under the foregoing provisions of this Article it may be referred to arbitration by either the Agency or the Union as provided for below.

- Where a difference arises between the Agency and the Union relating to the interpretation, application or administration of this Agreement, including any question as to whether a matter is arbitral, or where an allegation is made that this Agreement has been violated, either of the parties may notify the other party in writing of its desire to submit the difference or allegation to arbitration. Such notice must be given in writing to the other party within twenty (20) working days after the written decision is rendered at Step 3 of the Grievance Procedure and shall contain the names of three (3) suggestions of arbitrators. The recipient of the notices shall within seven (7) working days inform the other party whether any of the three (3) proposed arbitrators are satisfactory and, if not, will suggest three (3) other names. The party desiring arbitration will then contact the other party if necessary to resolve the choice of arbitrator.
- 6.06 If the parties fail to agree upon an arbitrator within twenty-one (21) working days, either party may apply to the Ministry of Labour for Ontario to appoint an arbitrator.
- 6.07 The Arbitrator shall hear and determine the matter and shall issue a decision which shall be final and binding upon the parties and upon any employee affected by it. The Arbitrator shall not have any authority to alter or amend in any way the provisions of this Agreement; to substitute any new provisions in lieu thereof; to give any decision inconsistent with, or contrary to, the terms, and conditions of this Agreement; or in any way modify, add to, or delete from any provision of this agreement.
- 6.08 The cost and expenses of the Arbitrator shall be borne equally by the parties. Either party may be represented by counsel.
- 6.09 No matter may be submitted to arbitration which has not been properly carried through all steps of the grievance procedure and within the time limits specified.

6.10 **Discharge for Cause**

An employee who has completed their probationary period and who feels that they have been discharged without just cause may file a written grievance. A grievance of a discharge must be grieved within five (5) working days from the date of discharge and will commence at Step 2.

6.11 The time limits fixed in the grievance procedure or referral to arbitration may be extended by mutual written agreement of the President of the Union and the Manager, Human Resources, or their designate. No time limits may be extended without such mutual agreement.

ARTICLE 7- SENIORITY

7.01 a) **Probationary Period**

A new employee shall be considered to be on probation until he/she has completed six hundred and forty (640) hours worked. Upon completion of the probationary period, the seniority shall date from the most recent date of hire. During an employee's probationary period, the employee shall be considered as being employed in a trial basis and may be discharged without notice at the sole discretion of the Agency and shall not be entitled to grieve or arbitrate a discharge within the probationary period.

b) Extended Probationary Period

When mutually agreed, a longer probationary period may be arranged between the Agency and the Union.

An employee shall be notified when they have completed their probationary period.

c) Seniority Accrual

After January 1, 1993, seniority for part-time employees will accrue on the basis of 1,755 hours equals one year's service.

7.02 Seniority Lists

The Agency shall maintain separate full-time and part-time seniority lists as for the following classifications:

- (1) Teachers (RECE or equivalent)
- (2) Assistant Teachers
- (3) Cooks
- (4) Housekeeping Aides
- (5) Home Child Care Co-ordinators
- (6) Integration Services Co-ordinators
- (7) Program Facilitators
- (8) Child Care Services Co-ordinators
- (9) Family Support Worker

The seniority lists shall show the bargaining unit seniority for each employee and shall be available to the Union and the employees. A copy of the seniority list shall be forwarded to the Union and posted on all bulletin boards in January of each calendar year, and such other times as the Agency and the Union may mutually agree. The seniority list posted in January shall be current as of December 31st of the prior year.

Within one (1) month of posting seniority lists bargaining unit members are accountable for verifying their seniority. Failing any written objection being submitted to HR within the month following posting of the seniority list, the seniority list will be deemed to be correct. Employees absent from work for the entire period of the posting will not be prejudiced by an incorrect list provided they notify HR of any errors within five (5) days of their return.

- 7.03 An employee shall lose their seniority and their employment shall be deemed to be terminated for all purposes if the employee:
 - a) quits;
 - b) is discharged and the discharge is not reversed in the grievance and arbitration procedure;
 - c) is laid off for more than eighteen (18) months;
 - d) is absent from work for two (2) consecutive working days without notifying the Agency except for reasons beyond the employee's control or is absent from work for two (2) consecutive working days without permission of the Agency;
 - e) fails to return to work when scheduled following a leave of absence without prior notification to and permission of the Agency, provided that the Agency will not administer this Article 7.03 e) in an arbitrary or discriminatory manner;
 - f) works elsewhere so as to affect work at the Agency;
 - g) fails to report for work or to notify the Agency of their intention to return to work, within five (5) working days of receipt of notice by registered mail or telephone to return to work from layoff or leave;
 - h) utilizes a leave of absence for a purpose other than that for which it was granted;
 - i) retires or is no longer able to perform the work available;
 - j) is absent from work due to sickness or injury in excess of twenty-four (24) months;
 - k) works in a non-bargaining unit position for greater than twenty-four (24) months.
 - fails to respond to management's request to attend a meeting or fails to schedule a meeting date within five (5) business days, except in the event of unforeseen circumstances outside of the employee's control; or
 - m) after ceasing to be eligible for Short Term Disability or Long-Term Disability benefits because the employee is considered fit to return to work by the insurance carrier, and such decision is not under appeal, the employee
 - (a) does to return to work within seven (7) days of notification of the insurer's decision, or
 - (b) does not submit an appeal to the insurer within 30 working days of notification of the insurer's decision.
- 7.04 It shall be the duty of the employee to keep the Agency informed of their current address. Should an employee fail to do so the Agency shall not be responsible for the

failure of any notices which may be required under the terms of this Agreement to reach the employee.

- 7.05 Prior to the actual layoff of an employee or employees, the Agency shall make reasonable efforts to transfer the employee(s) concerned to a vacant position, provided the employee(s) has the necessary skills and is able to perform the work of said vacant position effectively and competently. If the employee to be laid off is not transferred to a vacant position, the Agency shall make reasonable non-monetary efforts to assist such employee to find alternative employment.
- 7.06 Should any new job classifications be established by the Employer within the Bargaining Unit during the term of the Collective Agreement the Employer will notify the Union in writing of the new classification and wage rate.
- 7.07 The Agency agrees to copy the Union on letters from the Agency to employees who have been hired, seconded, laid-off, transferred, suspended or terminated.

ARTICLE 8 - LEAVES OF ABSENCE

- 8.01 An employee may apply for a leave of absence giving the Agency as much notice as possible but at least three (3) weeks' notice. All leaves of absence shall be without pay and without benefits. The Agency can grant or withhold any application for leave of absence depending upon the circumstances. All applications by employees for leave of absence shall be in writing.
- 8.02 A leave of absence for up to forty-five (45) days will not affect an employee's seniority. In the event of a leave for forty-six (46) days or more, seniority will be preserved but will cease to accumulate.

8.03 Jury Duty

A full-time employee who has completed their probationary period with the Agency who is summoned to serve as a juror and who reports for jury duty will be paid an amount equal to the difference between the daily jury fee paid by the court (exclusive of any allowance for traveling and living expenses) for each day in which the employee reports for or performs jury duty and would otherwise have been scheduled to work and the employee's regular pay. In order to receive such payment an employee must give prior written notice that they have been summoned for jury duty and furnish the Agency with satisfactory evidence that they reported for or performed jury duty on the days for which the employee claims payment and satisfactory evidence of the amount of the jury fee which the employee received. The Agency's obligation to pay the employee is limited to a maximum of fifteen (15) days in any calendar year.

8.04 Bereavement Leave

a) In the event of the death of the employee's spouse, same sex partner, parent, legal guardian, child, step-child, the employee shall be granted a bereavement

leave of absence with pay for up to five (5) working days. In the event of the death of the employee's sister, brother, grandparent, mother-in-law, father-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, sister-in-law, brother-in-law, or grandchild the employee shall be granted a bereavement leave of absence with pay for up to four (4) working days. In the event of the death of an employee's aunt, uncle, niece, nephew, step-parent or grandparent-in-law, the employee shall be granted a bereavement leave of absence with pay for one (1) working day. In special circumstances, the Agency may grant an extension of time for such leave, but it shall be without pay and at the sole discretion of the Agency.

b) For employees traveling outside the province for funeral services for persons referred to in paragraph (a), such leave shall also include unpaid reasonable traveling time, not to exceed ten (10) working days. In special circumstances, the Agency may grant an extension of time for such leave. Such leave shall be without pay and at the sole discretion of the Agency.

8.05 **Pregnancy Leave**

- a) A pregnant employee employed for thirteen (13) weeks as of the expected date of birth of the employee's child shall be entitled to up to seventeen (17) weeks pregnancy leave.
- b) The pregnancy leave may begin no earlier than seventeen (17) weeks before the expected birth of the child and no later than the day on which she gives birth.
- c) The employee must give at least two (2) weeks written notice of the date the pregnancy leave is to begin and must provide a certificate from a legally qualified medical practitioner stating the expected date of birth. Notice may be give within two (2) weeks of stopping work where the employee stops work early because of complications caused by the employee's pregnancy. The employee shall give the Agency as much advanced written notice as reasonably practicable.

8.06 Parental Leave

- a) Each parent who has been employed for thirteen (13) weeks shall be entitled to parental leave, following the birth of the employee's child or the date the child came into the custody, care and control of the employee of up to sixty-one (61) weeks if the employee took pregnancy leave and otherwise up to sixty-three (63) weeks.
- b) Parental leave for an employee who takes pregnancy leave must commence when the pregnancy leave ends. In all other cases, the parental leave must commence no later than seventy-eight (78) weeks after the day the child is born or comes into the custody, care and control of the parent for the first time.
- c) The employee must give at least two (2) weeks' written notice of the date the parental leave is to begin unless the child becomes immediately available, in

which case, such leave may commence at such time as is mutually agreed to by the employee and the Agency.

8.07 General Provisions Regarding Pregnancy and Parental Leaves

- a) An employee who intends to resume employment following pregnancy and/or parental leave shall advise the Agency in writing at least four (4) weeks before the expected date of return. The employee shall give the Agency as much advanced written notice as reasonably practicable.
- b) On the employee's return to work, the employee shall be reinstated to the employee's position, if it still exists, or to a comparable position, if it does not.
- c) Seniority continues to accrue during pregnancy and parental leave.
- d) An employee on pregnancy or parental leave shall continue to participate in the employee benefit insurance listed in Article 11 and the Agency shall continue to make its contributions for those benefits for a period of up seventy-eight (78) weeks unless the employee fails to make the employee's required contributions, if any, to such plans.

8.08 Sick Leave

- a) Every employee shall be entitled to participate in the Agency's sick leave program, which, for permanent employees, shall commence upon successful completion of probation, but the employee's credit calculations shall commence upon employment.
- b) Every employee shall be credited with one and a half (1½) days of sick leave per month of employment, up to a maximum of eighteen (18) days of sick leave per year. Sick leave shall be cumulative to a maximum of forty-five (45) working days. Unused sick leave does not entitle a terminating employee to any compensation. Sick leave will cease to accrue after an employee has been absent for thirty (30) days until the employee returns to work.
- c) Sick leave means the period of time an employee is absent due to illness or injury and by virtue of being under examination or treatment of a physician or psychiatrist. Sick leave also includes an absence due to the illness or injury of the employee's spouse, dependent children, parent dependent on the employee for care or spouse's parent dependent on the employee for care. It is understood and agreed that pay for sick leave is for the sole purpose of protecting the employee from loss of regular income when she is unable to work.
- d) Sick leave credits are used to cover the first seven (7) days of absence due to illness until insurance benefits commence on day eight (8) at the rate of sixty-six and two thirds (66 2/3) and thirty three and one third (33 1/3) from employees' sick bank to reach one hundred percent (100%) in the case of injury or illness to a maximum of thirty (30) days after commencement of

- absence due to illness or injury. If the insurance company refuses benefits, sick leave credits cannot be used as a substitute.
- e) Employees may use a full day sick leave credit to cover required scheduled medical appointments. Appointments must be disclosed at least five (5) business days ahead of time, or as soon as reasonably possible ahead of time, if five (5) days is not possible.
- f) An employee may be required by the Agency to produce (i) a proof of illness or injury in the form of a medical certificate from a legally qualified Medical Practitioner, or (ii) other reasonable documentation for any absence due to illness or injury.
 - Fees charged to an employee to provide a note, medical certificate or to complete forms to support an absence are the sole responsibility of the employee. If the Agency requires a medical certificate for an illness or injury under three (3) days in length, the Agency shall pay the associated fee for the medical certificate.
- g) If an employee must return home during the work day due to illness or injury, or illness or injury of the employee's spouse, dependent children, parent dependent on the employee for care or spouse's parent dependent on the employee for care, the employee's accumulated sick leave credits will be reduced only by the number of hours left in his/her scheduled shift. In all other cases, use of sick leave credits will reduce the employee's accrued sick leave by one full day.

8.09 Union Leave of Absence

a) Leave of Absence for short-term Union Duties

- 1. Leave of absence without pay and without loss of seniority shall be granted to permit employees to attend a Union convention or Union seminar where the request for the leave of absence is made in accordance with this provision. Any such leave of absence must be requested in writing at least ten (10) days prior to the date of the leave of absence and up to six (6) employees from different programs may be absent on such leave at any one time. The bargaining unit will not be entitled to more than forty-eight (48) working days leave under this Article in any calendar year.
- 2. Leave of absence without pay and without loss of seniority shall be granted to permit executive officers of the Local to attend to Union business where the request for the leave of absence is made in accordance with this provision. Any such leave of absence must be requested in writing at least five (5) days prior to the date of the leave of absence. The bargaining unit will not be entitled to more than fifteen (15) working days leave under this Article in any calendar year.

b) Leave of Absence for Union Duties

- 1. An employee who is elected or selected for a full-time or part-time position with the Union shall be granted a leave of absence for up to twenty-four (24) months. During such leave of absence, seniority shall continue to accumulate for the first twelve (12) months and shall be preserved but cease to accumulate thereafter. Notification of such leave of absence shall be given in writing at least four (4) weeks in advance. This leave shall be renewed upon request. Part-time shall be in full day increments.
- 2. In the event such a leave results in the creation of a temporary position with the Agency and the temporary position is filled with an external candidate, the time provision of Article I.03 d) shall not apply.
- Upon receipt of a written request at least four (4) weeks in advance the Agency will return the employee to the employee's former classification subject to seniority. In the event that the classification no longer exists, such an employee shall be placed in a comparable classification subject to seniority.
- 4. In the Event such a leave results in the creation of a temporary position with the Agency and the temporary position is filled by an employee from the bargaining unit, Article 8.09 b) 3. shall apply.
- 5. While on Union leave of absence for full-time duties or part-time duties, the employee shall continue to receive from the Agency, their regular salary and benefits as provided for in this Agreement. The Union shall reimburse the Agency, monthly, for the employee's salary and benefits during this period of absence. Part-time shall be in full day increments.

8.10 Medical or Dental appointments

Employees may take three (3) occasions per year for medical or dental appointments that will not be deducted from accrued sick leave under Article 8.08. Each such occasion shall not be longer than three (3) hours. For the avoidance of doubt, any unused time in respect of any one occasion pursuant to this Article 8.10 cannot be carried forward. This time may also be used for medical or dental appointments that the employee must attend for their spouse, dependent children, parent dependent on the employee for care or spouse's parent dependent on the employee for care. To the extent reasonably possible, employees must schedule medical or dental appointments outside of working hours or to align with the start or end of their shift. All employees will still be entitled to their paid one (1) hour lunch and two (2) ten (10) minute breaks as per Article 19.01, to be taken at a time determined by the supervisor.

8.11 Administrative leave

In the event that Children's Aid Societies, the Ontario Ministry of Education, the College of Early Childhood Educators, the applicable municipality or the Agency requires that an employee be placed on investigative leave for alleged misconduct which impacts the employment relationship, the Agency will continue to pay the employee at his/her

regular rate of pay for the duration of the investigation, up to a maximum of three (3) weeks.

Once the investigation is completed, it has been determined that the employee is not culpable, and the employee is returned to work, the Agency will pay the employee for all wages and benefits lost. Seniority will continue to accrue for the duration of the investigation.

ARTICLE 9 - HOLIDAYS

9.01 The following holidays shall be observed with pay:

New Year's Day
Good Friday
Victoria Day
Canada Day
Civic Holiday (August)
Thanksgiving Day
Christmas Day
Boxing Day

Labour Day

Any additional holidays are at the discretion of the Agency. If any of the above holidays falls within a vacation period, the employee is entitled to an additional day's leave to be taken at a time mutually agreed upon by the Agency and the employee.

9.02 Float Days

Three (3) "Float Days" to be observed on days mutually agreeable to the Agency and the employee within each calendar year.

For the purposes of new employees in the first year of employment, the three (3) Float Days will be prorated as one per each completed four working months of employment. Permanent employees on a Leave of Absence do not accrue Float Days while on leave (except as required by the Employment Standards Act, 2000).

Permanent employees who work less than twenty (20) hours are not eligible to take Float Days.

- 9.03 Part-time employees and employees on maternity leave or other leaves of absence are not entitled to holiday pay (except as required by the *Employment Standards Act*).
- 9.04 To be eligible for holiday pay an employee must report on time and work their scheduled work day immediately preceding such holiday and their scheduled work day immediately following such holiday, unless absent because of proven illness, vacation, jury duty or compensatory time off.
- 9.05 Every effort will be made to allow employees time off to observe religious holidays other than the above, and any such days may be taken as vacation or leave without pay.

9.06 When a holiday falls during an employee's vacation, the employee shall receive another day off with pay at a time mutually agreed upon between the employee and the Agency. Should one of the holidays fall on a Saturday or Sunday, the employee shall receive a day off on the proclaimed day if that holiday is proclaimed and a day off at a time mutually agreed upon between the employee and the Agency when that holiday is not proclaimed.

ARTICLE 10 - VACATIONS

10.01 Effective January 1, 2010, the Agency will grant vacations with pay as follows:

YEARS OF SERVICE	Days Accrued
First (1st) Year of Service	Fifteen (15) Days
Fifth (5 th) Year of Service	Eighteen (18) Days
Tenth (10 th) Year of Service	Twenty-One (21) Days
Fifteenth (15 th) Year of Service	Twenty-Five (25) Days
Twentieth (20 th) and Subsequent Years of Service	Twenty-Six (26) Days

- 10.02 Vacation entitlement shall accrue monthly during each calendar year and must be taken by the end of January of the following year. Exceptions can be made at the discretion of the Agency.
- 10.03 An employee in the first year of employment may not take more vacation than the employee has accrued to the date the employee's vacation commences without the consent of the Agency. Employees hired after July 1st or who are on probation may carry earned vacation into the next year.

10.04 Vacation Scheduling

a) An employee shall consult with their supervisor in the matter of settling all dates for vacation in order to ensure continuity in carrying out the essential functions of the Agency. Acknowledgement of the employee's written request will occur within five (5) working days. Approval or denial in writing will be provided from the Agency for vacation time off within ten (10) working days of the employee's written request (for clarity: not 10 days after the acknowledgement).

Summer Vacation

b) Vacation schedules for the months of July and August will be requested by the employee no later than May 15th and approval for such vacation will be posted by May 31st. Vacation schedules once posted shall not be changed unless mutually agreed upon by the employee and the Agency.

Notice of Vacation Entitlement

- c) An employee must schedule all remaining unscheduled vacation time with their supervisor by September 30th, failing which it will be scheduled by the Agency at time(s) chosen by the Agency. Schedule shall not be changed unless mutually agreed upon by the employee and the Agency.
- 10.05 An employee on probation is not entitled to take vacation. Exceptions can be made at the discretion of the Agency. The Employee's vacation calculation commences upon employment. Upon resignation or termination of employment, an employee who has not completed one year's employment shall receive in lieu of vacation pay an amount equal to four percent (4%) of the employee's earnings up to the date of resignation or termination less any vacation pay already received or the employee may be asked to take vacation before the employee leaves. Where an employee has received more vacation pay than the employee is entitled to during the first year of employment and the employee then ceases to be employed by the Agency, the Agency may deduct the overpayment from the employee's pay cheque.
- 10.06 Employees who are not actively at work for a period in excess of thirty (30) working days do not accumulate vacation time off or vacation pay for the period of their absence, except as required by the *Employment Standards Act*.
- 10.07 The Agency agrees that should an employee be hospitalized while on vacation such vacation time lost will be considered sick leave and compensated accordingly upon presentation of a doctor's certificate and the said vacation will be taken at a time mutually agreed upon by the Agency and the employee.

10.08

- (a) Employees will be entitled to a family medical leave and other statutory leaves in accordance with the Employment Standards Act.
- (b) An eligible employee may request an extension of a statutory leave in writing. During an extended leave approved by the Agency; the employee shall continue to accrue seniority.

10.09 Earned but Unused Vacation Entitlement

Earned, but unused vacation entitlement shall be made payable upon the employee's death, to the employee's estate.

<u>ARTICLE 11 - HEALTH AND WELFARE BENEFITS</u>

11.01 The Agency will pay the premiums for the extended health care coverage set out in this Article for permanent employees who work twenty (20) hours or more per week for the Agency and have done so continuously for a period of at least three months. Coverage is compulsory for all employees. Employees on layoff or leave of absence shall not be entitled to any benefit coverage, except as agreed. All of the insurance

shall be as more particularly described and set forth in the policy or policies of insurance and the benefits provided shall be read subject to the terms and conditions of such policy or policies. Any dispute over payments of benefits under any policy shall be adjusted between the insured or the beneficiary and the insurer. The Agency's obligations are limited to arranging for the insurer and paying the premium for the insurance, except that the Agency shall use its best efforts to assist the employee in any dispute with the insurer.

11.02 Life Insurance

The benefit provided is two (2) times an employee's annual earnings rounded up to the next highest one thousand (\$1,000), provided however that the benefit is reduced to ten thousand (\$10,000) at age sixty-five (65). Life insurance coverage shall cease at age seventy (70).

The benefit is payable to the beneficiary designated by the employee on enrolment, or such beneficiary as may be designated from time to time by the employee.

11.03 Accidental Death and Dismemberment Insurance

The benefit is equal to the amount of the employee's life insurance. In the event of the death of an employee by accidental means, the principal amount is paid to the employee's designated beneficiary in addition to the life insurance amount. Accidental death and dismemberment insurance shall cease at age seventy (70).

In the event of certain dismemberment of loss of sight, a portion of the principal amount is paid to the employee as follows:

a) Full Amount of Benefit:

Loss of:

- a) Both hands;
- d) One hand and one foot;
- b) Both feet;
- e) One hand or foot and the loss of sight of one eye
- c) Sight of both eyes
- b) One-half of Benefit:

Loss of:

- a) One hand:
- b) One foot;
- c) Sight of one eye

For this benefit, the accident must take place while the employee is insured and the loss must occur within sixty-five (65) days of the accident.

11.04 Long Term Disability

This benefit provides for a sum of sixty-six and two thirds (66-2/3%) of the monthly salary to a maximum benefit of two thousand dollars (\$2,000). Long term disability coverage shall cease at age sixty-seven (67).

Benefits commence on the first day of work lost due to the accident and the eighth day of work lost due to sickness.

Benefits are payable for the first two (2) years while an employee is disabled and unable to perform their normal work. Beyond two (2) years an employee must be totally disabled and unable to perform any occupation for which the employee might be suited by virtue of education and training. In this latter event benefits could be payable to age 65 provided such total disability continues.

The benefit is integrated with Canada Pension Plan (CPP) and is reduced to offset any amount paid by CPP and where the employee is eligible for certain other payments as specified in the policy of insurance. The amount of reduction is frozen by the amount of CPP benefits first paid. It is not further reduced by annual cost-of-living increases and CPP benefits. The benefits paid to an employee is taxable and T-4 slips are issued for this benefit.

Once an employee is no longer eligible for Long Term Disability Benefits because the employee is considered fit to return to work by the insurance carrier, the employee must return to work unless the insurance carrier's decision is under appeal. If the employee does not return to work within seven days of notification of the decision, Article 7.03 shall apply.

11.05 Dental Plan

The Agency will pay the premiums for a dental plan for full-time permanent employees based upon or similar to the Blue Cross #9 Dental Plan and based upon the current Ontario Dental Association (ODA) Schedule of Fees. There will be no deductible and no co-insurance.

11.06 Vision Care

The Agency will pay the premiums for a vision care plan for full-time permanent employees. The benefits provided will be three hundred (\$300) towards prescription eyeglasses or contact lenses or laser eye surgery for the employee and each of the employee's dependents in accordance with the terms of the vision care plan.

11.07 **Pension**

- a) In this Article, the terms used shall have the meanings described:
 - 1. (a) "Plan" means the Multi-Sector Pension Plan.
 - (b) "Applicable Wages" means the basic straight time wages for all hours worked and in addition:
 - (i) the straight time component of hours worked on a holiday; and

- (ii) holiday pay, for the hours not worked; and
- (iii) vacation pay; and
- (iv) sick pay paid directly by the Employer (but not short-term indemnity payments paid by an insurer) which results in the Employee receiving full payment for the hours missed due to illness. Applicable wages includes any sick pay which an Employee is permitted to receive in cash despite not having been absent from the workplace; and

All other payments, premiums, allowances and similar payments are excluded.

(c) "Eligible Employee" means all employees in the bargaining unit who have completed 500 hours of employment with the employer (MSPP eligibility period), except such employees who are age 65 or over as of the commencement date referred in paragraph 2 below and who have elected not to participate in the MSPP by completing the MSPP's Age 65 Opt-Out Form and returning it to InBenefits within the period specified by InBenefits.

2. Commencing January 1, 2005

- (a) Each Eligible Employee shall contribute for each pay period an amount equal to 4 % of Applicable Wages to the Plan; and
- (b) the Employer shall contribute on behalf of each Eligible Employee for each pay period, an amount equal to 4 % of Applicable Wages to the Plan.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, no Employee or Employer contributions shall be made to the Plan for an Eligible Employee for hours worked after the end of the year in which the Eligible Employee attains age 71.

- 3. The Employee and Employer contributions shall be remitted to the Plan by the Employer within thirty (30) days after the end of the calendar month in which the pay period ends for which the contributions are attributable. The Employer shall remit all contributions in the manner directed by the Administrator of the Plan.
- 4. The Employer has no obligation to provide the benefits established by the Plan beyond the obligation to make contributions pursuant to the Collective Agreement. In the event that at any time the Plan does not have sufficient assets to permit continued payments under the Plan, nothing contained in the Collective Agreement, Plan or this Participation Agreement or the Declaration of Trust shall be construed as obligating the Employer to make contributions other than contributions for which the Employer is obligated by the Collective Agreement. It is understood that there shall be no liability upon the Employer, Union or the Trustees to provide the benefits established by the Plan if the Plan does not have sufficient assets to make such benefit payments and that the Trustees have the authority to amend benefits, if necessary or advisable.

The financial obligations of the Employer to the MSPP shall in no event exceed the obligation to make contributions as set out in this Collective Agreement, together with interest, plus damages and costs for which the Employer may be liable relating to a delinquency in making contributions to the Plan pursuant to the Declaration of Trust and Collective Agreement.

5. The Employer agrees to provide to the Administrator of the Plan, on a timely basis, all information required pursuant to the Pension Benefits Act, R.S.O. 1990, Ch. P-8, as amended, and Income Tax Act (Canada) which the Administrator may reasonably require in order to properly record and process pension contributions and pension benefits. If maintained by the Employer in electronically readable form, the information shall be provided in such form to the Plan if the Administrator so requests.

For further specificity, the items required for each Eligible Employee by this Article of the agreement include:

(a)	To be	Provided	at Plan	Commencement	l
-----	-------	----------	---------	--------------	---

Date of hire:

Date of birth;

Social Insurance Number;

Date of first contribution;

Seniority list to include hours from date of hire to Employer's fund entry date:

Gender.

(b) To be Provided with each Remittance

Name;

Social Insurance Number;

Monthly remittance broken down by employer and employee contributions;

Applicable Wages;

Year to date contributions broken down by employer and employee contributions:

Employer portion of arrears owing due to error, or late enrolment by the Employer.

(c) To be Provided Initially and as Status Changes

Full address;

Termination date where applicable (YYYY/MM/DD);

Marital status, and any change to marital status;

Date of death (if applicable).

(d) To be Provided Annually but no later than December 31

Current complete address listing for all Eligible Employees;

Period(s) of absence due to illness or disability, including WSIB (while Employee retains seniority);

Period(s) of lay-off, while subject to recall;

Period(s) of absence for pregnancy or parental leave;

Period(s) of strike or lockout;

Other leaves of absence;

Hours worked by employees covered by the collective agreement who are not yet eligible employees, in the month and cumulatively since their date of hire.

6. The Employer agrees to be bound by the terms of the Agreement and Declaration of Trust in respect of the Multi-Sector Pension Plan and the rules and regulations of the Plan adopted by the Trustees of the Plan, both as may be amended from time to time. In addition, the Employer agrees to enter into a Participation Agreement with the Trustees of the Plan in the form attached here to as Appendix A.

ARTICLE 12 - VACANCIES

- 12.01 a) Having regard to the nature and responsibilities of the Agency, the Agency and the Union agree that primary consideration must be given to the competence of job applicants to perform the requirements of the job. Accordingly, in filling positions within the bargaining unit the following factors shall be considered:
 - i) Professional qualifications, training, experience, knowledge, attitude, comportment, performance, skill and ability; and
 - ii) Length of service in the bargaining unit.

Where, as between the job applicants the factors in (i) are relatively equal, the longest service qualified employee shall be selected. Job applicants may include all employees of the Agency and persons applying from outside the Agency.

- b) For purposes of Article 12.01(a) and effective as of September 1, 2009, length of service for casual employees shall accrue on the basis of 2,080 hours equals one year's service.
- 12.02 The Agency shall post all job vacancies in the bargaining unit within five (5) working days of declaring the vacancy or new position and the posting shall remain on the bulletin board for at least five (5) working days. The job posting shall contain the title for the position, the salary range, the hours of work and any qualifications which might not be readily apparent from the other information in the job posting. Qualified internal applicants, which include contract and six (6) month casual employees, will be given preference in hiring. Internal applicants who are not successful will, upon written request, be provided with written feedback and advice for direction. Such feedback shall not be subject to the grievance and arbitration procedure and no grievance may be filed with respect to such feedback.
- 12.03 a) An employee who is accepted on a job posting for a job having the same scale will retain their current salary level and an employee accepted on a job posting for a job with a different salary scale will begin at the appropriate level of the salary scale for the new classification.
 - b) If an employee wishes to transfer to a different location or different area, the employee will make a written application to Human Resources indicating the location(s) or area(s) which the employee wishes to transfer to. Human Resources will acknowledge in writing to the employee receipt of such request for transfer within fifteen (15) working days of receipt. If a vacancy occurs in the employee's classification at the location or in the area applied for, the most senior employee will be offered the transfer and the vacancy created by the transferring employee (unless there is another request) will be filled in accordance with the collective agreement. An employee who has transferred will not be eligible for another transfer for six months from the date of the transfer.

Where the Agency determines that an employee should be transferred to another location, the employee will be notified in writing prior to the scheduled transfer. The Agency will give the employee two (2) weeks' notice recognizing that urgent needs may make such notice impracticable.

c) Permanent employees who have completed their probationary period may apply for a lateral transfer on compassionate or medical grounds. The Agency may require the employee to submit supporting documentation for the grounds for such a request.

The Agency will consider such requests in good faith and may, in its discretion, grant or deny such requests, taking into consideration operational needs. The transfer, if granted, may be for an indefinite or defined period, at the Agency's discretion.

For indefinite transfers, the employee may, within three (3) months of the transfer, voluntarily return, or be returned by the Agency, to their position formerly occupied, without loss of seniority.

- 12.04 The successful applicant shall be allowed a trial period of up to three (3) months during which the Employer will determine if the employee can satisfactorily perform the job. Within this period, the employee may voluntarily return or be returned by the Employer to her position formerly occupied, without loss of seniority. Employees other than employees who have displaced and are working in a lower paying classification pursuant to Article 13, shall not be permitted to post successfully for more than one vacancy in any six (6) month period without the consent of the Agency.
- 12.05 Where an employee is required to work in excess of a forty (40) hour week by the employer because of a vacancy, the employee shall receive compensatory time off or monetary compensation based upon their regular salary level, prorated to the additional hours worked (i.e. straight-time payment). Compensatory time shall be taken at a mutually agreeable time within three (3) months, failing which it shall be paid out.
- 12.06 If a contract employee is the successful applicant for a permanent position in a classification in which he/she has worked as a contract employee for a period of at least twelve (12) consecutive months immediately prior to becoming the successful applicant, the employee shall not be subject to a probationary period.

ARTICLE 13 - LAYOFFS

13.01 Both parties recognize that job security should increase in proportion to length of service. It is the Agency's intention to avoid the layoff of permanent employees wherever possible and only after contract employees have been terminated, secondees have returned to their permanent positions and, where possible, volunteers for layoff have been canvassed. The parties recognize that remaining employees must be qualified and able to perform the remaining work. The parties also recognize the importance of staff continuity when caring for children, but this should not affect layoff in reverse order of seniority.

Definitions: For purposes of this Article 13,

- a) For home childcare coordinators:
 - i) "locations" and "area" shall both mean (i) Toronto and York regions, and(ii) Peel region;
- b) for all other staff:
 - i) "location shall mean the centre (including affiliated before- and afterschool programs) at which the employee works, and
 - ii) "area" shall mean (i) Toronto and York regions, and (ii) Peel region

13.02 **Temporary Layoffs**

- a) Temporary layoffs will include layoffs for the summer period and other layoffs of less than thirteen (13) weeks duration. Contract employees in the same classification at the same location will be terminated and any employees in the same classification seconded at that location will be returned to their original position. Following these steps, the least full-time or part-time (as applicable) senior employee in the classification at the location will be laid off. Employees will not displace other employees at other locations but will be offered full-time or part-time (as applicable) work in their job classification at the other locations, in order of their seniority, where such work is available.
- b) Where a temporary layoff occurs, which may include a location closing for the summer vacation period or operating with reduced staff, employees at the locations will use any remaining vacation time off and, thereafter, will be on layoff status, but with benefits, for the balance of the layoff period. Employees will be told as part of their orientation that, depending upon demand for services, it is possible that the location at which they will be working will close for the months of July and August and that they may be laid off for all or part of that period.
- c) The Agency will give two (2) weeks' notice of temporary layoff, except where such layoffs are required as a result of circumstances beyond the Agency's control.

13.03 Permanent Layoffs

- a) Prior to the permanent layoff of an employee or employees, the Agency shall offer to transfer the affected employee(s) at the location to an existing vacant position in their classification, starting with the most senior affected employee at the location. The Agency shall make reasonable non-monetary efforts to assist a permanently laid-off employee to find alternative employment.
- b) Where a location closes permanently or another form of permanent layoff occurs, the Agency must first terminate contract employees in the affected classification at the affected location and then return any seconded employees in the affected classification who have been seconded to the affected location to their original classification. Openings created as a result of these steps will be offered to the employees in the same classification who face layoff under the following procedure, in order of seniority.
- c) The parties agree that full-time employees shall only displace other full-time employees, and part-employees shall only displace other part-time employees, in all cases in accordance with the procedure below.
- d) Where it is still necessary to reduce staff, employees will be laid off starting with the least senior employee in the job classification at the location in question. The affected employee(s) shall displace the least senior employee(s) in the job classification in their area, provided they have more seniority.

- e) The affected junior employee(s) in the job classification in an area shall displace the least junior employee(s) in the job classification in another area in the bargaining unit provided they have more seniority, or they may elect to accept the permanent layoff.
- f) The least senior employee(s) in a classification in the bargaining unit shall displace the least senior employee in a classification in the next lower paying set of classification(s) (as set out in the below chart), provided the employee(s) has (i) more seniority and (ii) the necessary skill, abilities and qualifications, or shall accept the permanent layoff. The displaced individual shall in turn displace the least senior employee in the next lower paying classification(s), provided the employee(s) has (i) more seniority and (ii) the necessary skill, abilities and qualifications, or shall accept the permanent layoff. This process shall continue until an affected employee (i) does not have the seniority to displace into the next lower paying classification, (ii) does not have the necessary skill, abilities and qualifications or (iii) is in the lowest paying classification. Employees displaced in accordance with this paragraph will be paid at the lesser of (a) their wage rate at the time of layoff, and (b) the highest step of the lower paying classification. The following chart sets out the classifications in order of wage rate:

	HCC Coordinator
Highest Paid Classifications	Integration Coordinator
	Child Care Service Coordinator
	RECE Teacher
Next lower paying set of classification(s)	Program Facilitator
	Family Support Worker
Next lower paying classification(s)	Assistant Teacher
Next lower paying classification(s)	Cook
Next lower paying classification(s)	Housekeeping Aide

- g) Where a permanent reduction of the work force occurs, the Agency will give notice or pay in lieu of notice and severance pay, if any, as required by the *Employment Standards Act (ESA)* and such additional notice or pay in lieu of notice, if any, as is necessary to ensure that:
 - i) Any permanent employee with less than five (5) years of service receives a total of one (1) months' notice or pay in lieu of notice;
 - ii) Any permanent employee with five (5) to fourteen (14) years of service receives a total of two (2) months' notice or pay in lieu of notice;
 - iii) Any permanent employee with fifteen (15) or more years of service receives a total of four (4) months' notice or pay in lieu of notice.

Employees will receive their regular pay during the period of notice.

- h) When management determines that permanent layoffs are required, it will notify the Union prior to announcing any such layoffs. The Union/Management Committee will meet within one week of such notification or as soon as possible thereafter to discuss alternatives to the projected layoffs.
- i) A grievance concerning layoffs due to a reduction in the working force shall be initiated at Step 3 of the grievance procedure. It is understood and agreed that the parties will meet to discuss any concerns about the layoff prior to filing a grievance relating to the layoff or layoff procedure.

13.04 **Recall**

The Agency shall recall employees to their job classification in the reverse order in which they were laid off. Employees shall be placed on the recall list for a period of eighteen (18) months from the date of layoff.

- 13.05 Any employee who has displaced another employee into a position in a lower paying classification pursuant to Article 13.03(f) shall be offered, in order of seniority, vacant positions that arise in their former classification prior to filling such vacancies with recalls or new hires. Employees who accept to be placed in such vacancies shall return to their classification at the step in the pay scale that they were in immediately prior to the time they displaced into the lower paying classification.
- 13.06 If an employee declines to displace the least senior employee in their classification in the area, the employee shall immediately lose their seniority and their employment shall be deemed terminated by reason of resignation and/or job abandonment.

If an employee declines to displace the least senior employee in the classification in another area in the bargaining unit or declines to displace an employee in the next lower paying classification, the parties agree that the employee will have declined reasonable alternative employment made available through a seniority system for purposes of the *Employment Standards Act* (and thus shall not be entitled to termination or severance pay under the ESA), but the employee will be placed on layoff with the right of recall and the Agency will support the employee's claim for EI benefits to the extent permitted by law.

ARTICLE 14 - GENERAL

14.01 Salaries

The Agency shall pay salaries and wages in accordance with Schedule "A" (Permanent Full/Part Time) "A1" (Contract), ("A2") (Casual) attached hereto and forming part of this Agreement. Pay day shall be on the fifteenth (15th) of the month and the last working day of every month. On each pay day each employee shall be provided with an itemized statement of their wages and deductions. Nothing shall prevent the Agency from paying above the rates listed in Schedule "A", "A1", and "A2" provided that notification of such amount be given to the Union.

14.02 Lunchroom

The Agency will endeavour to provide a suitable place where the employees may eat their lunch and have their coffee breaks.

14.03 Personnel File

- a) The record of an employee shall not be used against the employee at any time after:
 - i) Twelve (12) consecutive clear months following a disciplinary action, including letters of reprimand or any adverse reports; or
 - ii) Eighteen (18) consecutive clear months following a suspension.

For greater certainty, a leave of absence by an employee greater than one (1) month shall not be included in the calculation of "consecutive clear months" for the purposes of this section 14.03.

Subsequent to these two (2) time periods, [14.03 a) i) and ii)] such letters, reports and records of suspension shall be permanently removed from the employee's personnel file upon a written request from an employee.

- b) An employee shall have the right to review their personnel file following fifteen (15) working days written notice to the employee's supervisor and shall have the right to respond in writing to any documents contained therein. Such a reply shall become part of the permanent record.
- c) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, discipline relating to workplace violence shall remain on an employee's record indefinitely.
- d) An Executive of the Union shall, with the employee's written consent and following five (5) working days written notice to the Agency, be entitled to review an employee's personnel file at the Agency's head office in the presence of a human resources representative to facilitate the investigation of the grievance. The personnel file shall not be removed from the Agency's head office.

14.04 Employee Attendance

Any absence and the reasons for such absence must be communicated to the employee's supervisor and/or manager as soon as possible and in any event not less than two (2) hours prior to the beginning of the next shift or the end of the shift preceding the absence, except in emergencies. Absence must be acknowledged by a supervisor or manager. Upon notification of an absence a supervisor and/or manager is responsible for finding a suitable replacement for the absent employee.

14.05 Employee Performance Appraisal ("Contribution Reviews")

The Agency may provide a written performance appraisal (a "Contribution Review") of the employee from time to time. Upon request, a copy of the completed Contribution Review will be provided to the employee. In view of the purpose of such Contribution Reviews, they shall not be subject to the grievance and arbitration procedure and no grievance may be filed with respect to such a Contribution Review of an employee. It is also agreed that such written Contribution Review will not be used by the Agency in arbitration.

14.06 Bulletin Boards

The Agency shall provide a bulletin board for official Union notices at all their locations where permitted by the landlord.

14.07 Correspondence

All correspondence between the parties, arising out of this Agreement or incidental thereto, shall pass to and from the CEO, or designate, of the Agency and the President of CUPE Local 2563 or designate. The Union shall inform the Agency in writing of the name and address of the President of the Union, and of any changes as they occur.

14.08 **Gender**

Wherever the singular or feminine is used in this Agreement, it shall be considered to include the plural or masculine where the context of the Agreement or parties so requires.

14.09 Workload

An employee who believes that their workload has increased beyond what might be considered reasonable shall have the right to ask for a review from the employee's immediate supervisor. Such review to be conducted within ten (10) days of the request. If the employee's concerns are not resolved, the matter will be discussed by the Union/Management committee within thirty (30) days and a resolution agreed upon. A complaint under this clause cannot be the subject of a grievance or arbitration.

14.10 New Positions

When any classification within the bargaining unit not covered by Schedule "A", "A1" or "A2" is established during the term of this Agreement, the rate of pay shall be established in accordance with the existing joint job evaluation/pay equity process.

14.11 No Discrimination

The Parties agree that they and the employees covered by this Agreement shall comply with the provision of the *Ontario Human Rights Code* (the "Code") and the Agency's Harassment Policy. All allegations that there is a breach of the provisions of the *Code* may be dealt with in accordance with the grievance and arbitration procedures.

14.12 Respectful Workplace

The Agency and the Union are jointly committed to providing a diverse, healthy, positive, supportive, safe and respectful work environment in which individuals are free from workplace violence and harassment.

The Agency and the Union will not tolerate any form of workplace violence and harassment from any source and will take all reasonable steps to prevent and address

workplace violence and harassment in accordance with the Agency's Workplace Violence and Harassment Policy.

Employees are expected to report any experienced or observed workplace violence or harassment in accordance with the Agency's Workplace Violence and Harassment Policy.

14.13 Legal Protection

Employees will continue to be covered under the Agency's policy of insurance pursuant to the terms of the policy as it may from time to time provide.

14.14 Printing of Collective Agreement

The Agency shall share equally the cost of reproduction of the collective agreement with the Union if the Agency has arranged the printing of the collective agreement.

14.15 Union Mailbox

The Agency shall provide the Union with a mailbox at its head office location.

14.16 **Injury Pay**

An employee who is injured in the course of employment and who is required to leave for medical attention or is sent home as a result of the injury shall receive payment for the remainder of the shift on the day of the injury at her/his regular rate of pay, without deduction from sick leave, provided that a doctor or nurse states in writing that the employee is unfit for further work on that shift.

14.17 Quarantine

Any staff who are quarantined by a medical practitioner as a direct result of their employment with the Agency may choose to use unused sick leave in accordance with Article 8.08 or accrued vacation or go on unpaid leave. Nothing herein shall prevent the Agency from temporarily reassigning employees to other locations for the duration of any quarantine unless there are medical restrictions to the contrary.

14.18 **Letter of Employment**

Regarding resignation/termination of employment with the Agency for any reason, the Employer will provide a letter of employment upon request setting out the employee's start and end date as well as their most recent title.

ARTICLE 15 - EXPENSES

15.01 **Professional Development**

- a) Expenses of work-related staff development programs, conferences, courses or workshops will be paid by the Agency, in full or in part, upon approval of the Agency. Recommendations concerning staff attendance are the responsibility of the Program Manager/Supervisor in consultation with their appropriate program staff. Employees shall be allowed a maximum of two hundred dollars (\$200.00) per calendar year to cover expenses for attendance at such staff development program, conference, course or workshop or for purchasing professional literature and materials.
- b) Where an employee wishes to attend a professional development activity, the employee will give as much advance notice to the Agency as is possible and similarly where the Agency deems it desirable that an employee attend, the Agency will endeavour to give as much advance notice as possible so that arrangements can be made to avoid any disruption of service to clients of the Agency. All conferences, etc. must be approved by the Agency and the attendance by any particular employee at such event must also receive prior approval from the Agency. Employees will be expected to share the information obtained at the event by written or oral presentation at the request of the Agency.
- c) All permanent full-time childcare center employees shall receive two (2) paid leave days per calendar year for professional development for specified purposes relating directly to the function being performed by the employee at the child care centre. Professional development leave shall not include mandatory workshops or training required by the Agency. The leave shall be at a time mutually agreed between the employee and the supervisor and must be approved in writing in advance by the Agency. For greater certainty, such leaves are not subject to carry forward from year to year.

Permanent part-time employees are eligible for two-hundred (\$200) per calendar year for professional development expenses as per 15.01(a).

15.02 Automobiles

a) When an employee drives their own car on Agency business the employee will be required to present annually to the Agency proof of a valid driver's license, valid insurance, one million dollars (\$1,000,000) of public liability and property damage insurance and documentation that they have informed their insurance agent in writing of the nature and extent of their driving and have paid the additional insurance premiums if so levied. The employee will be eligible to be reimbursed effective on ratification of the Agreement at the rate paid by Canada Revenue Agency (CRA) as well as for necessary parking expenses provided the employee meets the above conditions. The Agency will not reimburse an employee for distance traveled between the employee's home and workplace. Each Home Child Care Co-ordinator must have available and be willing to use a car for business purposes. If public transportation is used by an employee for Agency business, the employee will be reimbursed. Transportation expenses must be presented for reimbursement no later than five (5) working days after the last date worked in the month in which they were incurred and must be

approved by the Agency before reimbursement takes place. The employee must complete and submit for approval a monthly expense sheet indicating dates and locations and mileage driven on business and attach parking receipts.

b) Those employees who are required to have an automobile as per their job description be supplied with a signed T2200 by the Agency.

15.03 Meal Allowance

An employee who is required to work virtually or in person in the evening and has received prior approval where practical for doing so shall receive a meal allowance of up to twenty dollars (\$20.00) upon presentation of a receipt for the date on which the relevant work is performed. Where it is necessary for a Home Childcare Co-ordinator to purchase lunch for themselves in order to interview a client at lunch the employee will be reimbursed for the cost of their own lunch to a maximum of twenty dollars (\$20.00).

15.04 **Designate Pay**

- a) At each childcare centre, a qualified Early Childhood Educator shall be appointed by the Supervisor or Program Manager as the designate employee in charge when the centre Supervisor and/or Assistant Supervisor is off-site or absent from work. The appointed employee shall be paid an additional amount equal to ten percent (10%) of the employee's regular hourly wages for all hours worked as a designate in charge for that day. In the absence of the regular designate, the substitute designate who takes over the duties and responsibilities of the position will receive 10% of their regular hourly wages for onsite work and 5% for offsite work, for all hours worked.
- b) All eligible Registered Early Childhood Educators who have received Designate in Charge training will have the opportunity to participate in a Designate in Charge rotation. The duration of the rotation will be at the Supervisor or Program Manager's discretion, and the supervisor or program manager shall manage the rotation as equitably as possible, taking into consideration operational needs with a maximum length of time of one year. The Union and the Employer will discuss situations where this time frame may need to be extended. Those staff who assume the Designate in Charge role for the first time will receive a six (6) month orientation to the role.
- c) Beginning on September 1st, 2018, off-site program designates who are performing the duties and responsibilities of a licensee designate within the meaning of the *Child Care and Early Years Act, 2014* at their assigned location, shall be paid an additional amount equal to five percent (5%) of the employee's regular hourly wages for all hours worked as an off-site designate in charge for that day.

15.05 Employee Childcare Discount

Bargaining unit employees are entitled to a twenty-five percent (25%) discount on all FDCS programs for which a fee subsidy is not received.

15.06 **Program Purchases**

To have their necessary expenses reimbursed, employees must seek approval from their Supervisor prior to purchase, and obtain legible itemized store receipts for the purchase. Reimbursements will be made as soon as possible and in any event within three (3) weeks of Supervisor's receipt of the relevant receipts.

ARTICLE 16 - ENTIRE AGREEMENT

16.01 The Union and the Agency agree that this Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties. It is understood that any practice by the Agency does not create any obligations on the Agency in addition to those contained in this Agreement.

ARTICLE 17 - CASUAL EMPLOYEES

17.01 Casual employees shall be covered by the following provisions of this Agreement:

Article 1	Article 2	Article 3
Article 4	Article 5	Article 6
Article 7.04	Article 9.01, 9.03, 9.04	Article 12
Article 14	Article 15.02 – 15.03	Article 16
	(mileage for cooks only)	Article 20

The following provisions of this Agreement shall not apply to casual employees:

Article 7	Article 8.01 – 8.11	Article 9.02
Article 10	Article 11	Article 13
Article 15.01, 15.04 & 15.05	Article 18	Article 19

- 17.02 Casual employees will be paid salary in accordance with Schedule "A2" and will not move on the salary scale.
- 17.03 Effective September 1st, 2009, the Agency shall maintain a service list for casual employees and provide the Union with a copy.

- 17.04 Casual employees who are hired as permanent employees will have their seniority dated as of the first date of hire in the permanent position.
- 17.05 Upon being hired as a permanent employee, a casual employee who has completed the equivalent of two (2) years' service [calculated in accordance with Article 12.01 b)] shall be moved to Step 2 of the salary scale upon completion of probationary period.
- 17.06 Casual employees may not grieve termination of employment or refusal to continue to employ or to re-employ.
- 17.07 A casual employee who reports to work a scheduled shift shall be provided with at least three (3) hours work or pay in lieu, at the discretion of the Agency. This Article shall not apply where a casual employee agrees to work a shift that is scheduled to last for less than three (3) hours.
- 17.08 The Agency shall make available certain in-house training to casual employees. Where such training is voluntary, it shall be unpaid.

ARTICLE 18 - CONTRACT EMPLOYEES

18.01 Contract employees will not be hired to replace existing staff. Contract employees shall be covered by the following provisions of this Agreement:

Article 1	Article 2	Article 3
Article 4	Article 5	Article 6
Article 8.04 & 8.08, 8.10, 8.11	Article 9	Article 10
Article 12	Article 14	Article 15.02, 15.03, 15.05
Article 16	Article 18	Article 19
Article 20		

The following provisions of this Agreement shall not apply to contract employees:

Article 7	Article 8.01 – 8.03 8.05 – 8.07, 8.09	Article 9.02, 9.03, 9.04, 9.05, 9.06
Article 11	Article 13	Article 15.01&15.04

18.02 Contract employees will be paid salary in accordance with Step 1 of the salary scale, Schedule "A" and will not move on the scale.

- 18.03 For the purpose of competition for a permanent position, if all other measures are equal, the candidate with the most service as a contract employee shall be given preference.
- 18.04 The Agency shall maintain a service list for contract employees and provide the Union with a copy.
- 18.05 Contract employees who are hired as permanent employees will have their seniority dated as of first date of hire in the permanent position.
- 18.06 Upon being hired as a permanent employee, a contract employee who has completed a minimum of eighteen (18) months shall be moved to Step 2 of the salary scale.
- 18.07 Contract employees may grieve terminations that are alleged by the Agency to be "for cause" as a result of misconduct. Contract employee(s) may not grieve termination of employment prior to or on completion of their term or task.

ARTICLE 19 - HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME

19.01 Hours of Work

a) Centre Employees

The normal work week for Centre employees shall consist of forty (40) hours for full-time employees with a lunch break one (1) hour and two (2) ten (10) minute breaks per day, one in the morning and one in the afternoon. The employee has the right to choose where she takes her lunch and breaks provided there is mutual agreement which does not contravene *Child Care and Early Years Act, 2014.* Centre employees will have their lunch and breaks with the children when the children are on a field trip. Breaks may also not be possible on field trips. Employees will be given lieu time for lunches missed on field trips. Centre employees may be required to come in early or stay later for staff meetings once a month for two hours. The Agency will endeavour to provide employees with two (2) weeks' notice before a staff meeting.

b) Home Child Care Staff

The normal work shall consist of forty (40) hours for full-time employees with a lunch break of one (1) hour and two ten (10) minute breaks per day, one in the morning and one in the afternoon. It is understood that the nature of the work of the Home Child Care Staff requires employees to perform their duties with a high degree of independence, flexibility, initiative, judgment, integrity and responsibility. Accordingly, a high degree of flexibility in the scheduling of work time is needed for a proper and effective delivery of service.

General

- Employees who are required by the Agency to report for work before or after operational hours shall be compensated (with time in lieu or paid straight time) for all such hours worked.
- b) There is no guarantee of hours of work in a day or in a week.
- c) Employees will, where reasonably possible, complete field student placement evaluations and all work related thereto during work time. Where this is not reasonably possible, and with the Supervisor's advance approval, the employee will complete such work outside of work hours, in which case the employee will receive up to three (3) hours of either:
 - (i) extra hours paid, or
 - (ii) time off in lieu, as determined by the Supervisor.
- d) All employees working five (5) consecutive hours a day shall be permitted a paid break of fifteen (15) minutes at a mutually agreeable time.
- e) Permanent and contract Employees who work extra hours in a different position or location will maintain their current pay rate. When an employee substitutes for a higher-paid position, they will receive that pay rate.

19.02 **Overtime**

a) Centre Employees

Employees will be paid overtime at time and one-half (1½) for hours actually worked in excess of forty-four (44) in a week (excluding meals). Overtime shall be authorized in advance whenever possible. Compensatory time off [at the rate of one and one-half (1½) for hours actually worked in excess of forty-four (44) hours in a week] will be offered if scheduling permits.

b) Home Child Care Staff

All overtime must be authorized in advance wherever possible and shall be compensated by time off to be taken at a time agreed upon by the employee and the Agency. Compensatory time off should be taken as soon as possible after the overtime work takes place. Overtime shall be compensated by equal time off, except that hours actually worked in excess of forty-four (44) in a week (excluding meals) will be compensated with time off on the basis of time and one-half (1½).

ARTICLE 20 - DURATION OF THE AGREEMENT

20.01 This Agreement shall commence on the 1st day of January 2024 and shall continue in effect until the 31st of December, 2026 unless either party gives notice in writing to the other that amendments are required or that the party intends terminating the agreement, then it shall continue in effect until the 31st day of December, 2027 and so on from year to year.

FOR THE UNION:	FOR THE EMPLOYER:
Heather Murray (Aug 6, 2024 11:43 EDT)	Diane Daley (Aug 16, 2024 11:00 EDT)
Jennifer Dantas Jennifer Dantas (Aug 6, 2024 16:53 EDT)	Frances Lesick Frances Lesick (Aug 19, 2024 11:48 EDT)
Linda j barstow linda j barstow (Aug 6, 2024 17:20 EDT)	News
Marina	(morshedi
Jaylon Dela Cruz (Aug 6, 2024 17:54 EDT)	JPersaud JPersaud (Aug 19, 2024 14:30 EDT)
SUB GYBBNB sue greene Mug 6, 2024 18:01 EDT)	
Ade Mustapha Ade Mustapha (Aug 6, 2624 18:12 EDT)	

SIGNED AT TORONTO, ONTARIO THIS _____DAY OF ______, 2024

SCHEDULE A ANNUAL SALARY SCALE – PERMANENT FULL TIME STAFF

		J	lanuary 1	Ų	January 1	,	January 1
POSITION	STEP		2024		2025	2026	
Home Child Care Coordinator	1	\$	52,256.80	\$	54,347.07	\$	55,977.48
Child Care Services Coordinator	2	\$	53,808.99	\$	55,961.35	\$	57,640.19
Integration Services Coordinator	3	\$	55,330.73	\$	57,543.96	\$	59,270.28
	4	\$	56,882.92	\$	59,158.24	\$	60,932.99
	5	\$	58,556.84	\$	60,899.11	\$	62,726.08
	6	\$	60,261.19	\$	62,671.64	\$	64,551.79
	7	\$	62,087.29	\$	64,570.78	\$	66,507.91
Early Childhood Educator	1	\$	47,813.30	\$	49,725.83	\$	51,217.61
Program Facilitator	2	\$	49,182.87	\$	51,150.18	\$	52,684.69
Family Support Worker	3	\$	50,735.06	\$	52,764.46	\$	54,347.39
	4	\$	52,256.80	\$	54,347.07	\$	55,977.48
	1	1		ı			
Assistant Teacher	1	\$	37,343.68	\$	38,837.43	\$	40,002.55
	2	\$	38,439.34	\$	39,976.91	\$	41,176.22
	3	\$	39,656.73	\$	41,243.00	\$	42,480.29
	4	\$	40,874.13	\$	42,509.10	\$	43,784.37
Centre Cook	1	\$	38,439.34	\$	20.076.01	\$	41 176 22
Certife Cook	2	\$	39,656.74	\$	39,976.91	э \$	41,176.22
	3	+ -		\$	41,243.01		42,480.30
		\$	40,874.13	<u> </u>	42,509.10	\$	43,784.37
	4	\$	42,121.96	\$	43,806.84	\$	45,121.04
Housekeeping Aide	1	\$	36,145.20	\$	37,591.01	\$	38,718.74
	2	\$	37,221.91	\$	38,710.79	\$	39,872.11
	3	\$	39,075.16	\$	40,638.17	\$	41,857.32
	4	\$	41,045.19	\$	42,687.00	\$	43,967.61

SCHEDULE A1

ANNUAL SALARY SCALE - CONTRACT FULL TIME EMPLOYEES

	,	January 1		January 1		January 1
POSITION		2024		2025		2026
Home Child Care Coordinator	\$	52,256.80	\$	54,347.07	\$	55,977.48
Child Care Services Coordinator						
Integration Services Coordinator						
Early Childhood Educator	\$	47,813.30	\$	49,725.83	\$	51,217.61
Program Facilitator	Ψ	+1,010.00	Ψ	43,723.03	Ψ	31,217.01
Family Support Worker						
Assistant Teacher	\$	37,343.68	\$	38,837.43	\$	40,002.55
Assistant reacher	Ψ	37,343.00	Ψ	36,037.43	Ψ	40,002.33
Centre Cook	\$	38,439.34	\$	39,976.91	\$	41,176.22
Centre Cook	Ψ	30,439.34	Ψ	39,970.91	Ψ	41,170.22
			ı		<u> </u>	
Housekeeping Aide	\$	36,145.20	\$	37,591.01	\$	38,718.74

SCHEDULE A2

HOURLY WAGE SCALE - CASUAL STAFF

POSITION	J	anuary 1 2024		January 1 2025	January 1 2026
Early Childhood Educator	\$	21.23	\$	22.08	\$ 22.74
Assistant Teacher	\$	17.38	\$	18.08	\$ 18.62
Centre Cook	\$	17.38	\$	18.08	\$ 18.62
			ı		
Housekeeping Aide	\$	17.38	\$	18.08	\$ 18.62
Before & After School Student	\$	17.38	\$	18.08	\$ 18.62

Return to Work/Modified Work

The Employer and the Union are committed to helping employees who have been absent from work due to illness or injury. They will make reasonable efforts to find suitable work for returning employees and will make reasonable efforts to accommodate any medical restrictions up to undue hardship. All accommodation requests will be handled in good faith and without discrimination.

Each returning employee will have a confidential meeting with HR, a Union representative and Management to create a plan for reintegration and to discuss any necessary modified work.

However, it is important to note that the Ontario Human Rights Code's provisions relating to disability and accommodation still apply.

Dated at Toronto, Ontario this	day of, 2024
For the Union:	For the Employer:
Heather Murray (Aug 6, 2024 11:43 EDT)	Diane Daley Diane Daley (Aug 16, 2024 11:00 EDT)
Jennifer Dantas Jennifer Dantas (Aug 6, 2024 16:53 EDT)	Frances Lesick Frances Lesick (Aug 19, 2024 11:48 EDT)
Linda j barstow linda j barstow (Aug 6, 2024 17:20 EDT)	News
Maina	- (Morskedi
JayKon Dela Cruz (Aug 6, 2024 17:54 EDT)	JPersaud JPersaud (Aug 19, 2024 14:30 EDT)
SUB GYEENE sue greene (Aug 6, 2024 18:01 EDT)	
Ade Mustapha Ade Mustapha (Aug 6, 2024 18:12 EDT)	

Pay Equity Funding

If the government provides pay equity funding in addition to existing funding levels during the term of this Agreement, the Agency shall distribute the additional funding to all employees and other staff equally unless the funding arrangements require otherwise.

Dated at Toronto, Ontario this	day of, 2024
For the Union:	For the Employer:
Heather Murray (Aug 6, 2024 11:43 EDT)	Diane Daley (Aug 16, 2024 11:00 EDT)
<u>Jennifer Dantas</u> Jennifer Dantas (Aug 6, 2024 16:53 EDT)	Frances Lesick Frances Lesick (Aug 19, 2024 11:48 EDT)
<u>Linda j barstow</u> linda j barstow (Aug 6, 2024 17:20 EDT)	News
Milainal	Chorskedi
Jaylon Dela Cruz (Aug 6, 2024 17:54 EDT)	
Ade Mustapha Ade Mustapha (Aug 6, 20,4 18:12 EDT)	

Implementation of 2024-2027 Agreement

The parties agree that only wage increases shall be retroactive to January 1, 2024, and that all other provisions of the Agreement shall be effective on the date of ratification (or the date specified in the Article, if prospective).

DATED AT TORONTO, ONTARIO THIS	DAY OF, 2024
FOR THE UNION:	FOR THE EMPLOYER:
Heather Murray (Aug 6, 2024 11:43 EDT)	Diane Daley Diane Daley (Aug 16, 2024 11:00 EDT)
Jennifer Dantas Jennifer Dantas (Aug 6, 2024 16:53 EDT)	Frances Lesick Frances Lesick (Aug 19, 2024 11:48 EDT)
Linda j barstow linda j barstow (Aug 6, 2024 17:20 EDT)	NIWW
dellaina	(morshedi
Jay on Dela Cruz (Aug 6, 2024 17:54 EDT)	JPersaud JPersaud (Aug 19, 2024 14:30 EDT)
SUE GYEENE sue greene Mug 6, 2024 18:01 EDT)	
Ade Mustapha Ade Mustapha (Aug 6, 2624 18:12 EDT)	

Providing Information to the Union

The Agency will take reasonable steps, at no additional cost, to ensure that the new payroll and human resources software, Dayforce, will be capable of generating a report(s) which can provide the Union with the information set out in Article 2.01.

Dated at Toronto, Ontario this	day of, 2024
For the Union:	For the Employer: Diane Daley Diane Daley (Mug 16, 2024 15:00 EDT)
Jennifer Dantas Jennifer Dantas (Aug 6, 2024 16:53 EDT)	Frances Lesick Frances Lesick (Aug 19, 2024 11:48 EDT)
Linda j barstow linda j barstow (Aug 6, 2024 17:20 EDT)	News
Millariusa	Cmorshedi
Jaylon Dela Cruz (Aug 6, 2024 17:54 EDT)	JPersaud (Aug 19, 2024 14:30 EDT)
SUE GYEENE sue greene (Aug 6, 2024 18:01 EDT)	
Ade Mustapha Ade Mustapha (Aug 6, 2024 18:12 EDT)	

FUNDING DISTRIBUTION

The parties acknowledge that the Canadian government has implemented the Canada-Wide Early Learning and Child Care ("CWELCC") program, which provides funding for certain childcare centre based positions at the Agency beneath a certain wage floor.

The Agency and the Union are jointly supportive of other sources of funding applying equally to all of the Agency's current and future positions and programs, regardless of eligibility for CWELCC funding.

DATED AT TORONTO, ONTARIO THIS	DAY OF _	, 2024	
FOR THE UNION:		FOR THE EMPLOYER:	
Heather Murray (Aug 6, 2024 11:43 EDT)		Diane Daley Diane Daley (Aug 16, 2024 11:00 EDT)	
Jennifer Dantas Jennifer Dantas Jennifer Dantas (Aug 6, 2024 16:53 EDT)		Frances Lesick Frances Lesick (Aug 19, 2024 11:48 EDT)	
Linda j barstow linda j barsto (Aug 6, 2024 17:20 EDT)		Nlwx	
Milaiwal		(morshedi	
Jayon Dela Cruz (Aug 6, 2024 17:54 EDT)		JPersaud JPersaud (Aug 19, 2024 14:30 EDT)	
SUB GYEENE sue greene Wug 6, 2024 18:01 EDT)			
Ade Mustapha Ade Mustapha (Aug 6, 2024 18:12 EDT)			

PANDEMIC RESPONSE

This Letter of Understanding operates during a period in which both of the following conditions are satisfied:

- 1. One or more diseases has been designated by regulation to be a "designated infectious disease" for the purposes of section 50.1 of the Ontario Employment Standards Act, 2000; and
- 2. The Government of Ontario has declared a state of emergency pursuant to the Ontario Emergency Management and Civil Protection Act which has not been terminated or disallowed that is:
 - a. in relation to the same disease(s) which is the subject of the designation referred to above:
 - b. is in relation to either the whole province of Ontario or is in relation to that part of the province of Ontario in which the Employer carries on operations.

If this Letter of Understanding has come into operation, it shall immediately cease to operate when any of the above conditions are no longer satisfied.

The parties agree that:

- 1. The Employer is committed to continuing to work cooperatively with the Union in a fair and timely manner.
- 2. The Employer shall ensure that the Joint Health and Safety Committee (JHSC) is informed and actively involved during this time without limiting the duties under the Ontario Occupational Health and Safety Act (OHSA).
- 3. The Employer agrees to explore relevant government subsidy programs available.

Dated at Toronto, Ontario this _____day of _____, 2024

4. The parties agree that this Letter of Understanding is without prejudice or precedent to any other matter(s) between them.

For the Union:	For the Employer:
Heather Murray (Aug 6, 2024 11:43 EDT)	Diane Daley Diane Daley (Aug 16, 2024 YI:00 EDT)
Jennifer Dantas Jennifer Dantas (Aug 6, 2024 16:53 EDT)	Frances Lesick Frances Lesick (Aug 19, 2024 11:48 EDT)
<u>linda j barstow</u> linda j barstow (Aug 6, 2024 17:20 EDT)	News
Milainal	- (morskedi
Jay on Dela Cruz (Aug 6, 2024 17:54 EDT)	
SUE GYEENE sue greene (viug 6, 2024 18:01 EDT)	
Ade Mustapha Ade Mustapha (Aug 6, 2624 18:12 EDT)	

GROUP BENEFITS

The Agency is committed to consulting with the Union with respect to:

- (i) gathering data regarding employees' current group benefit usage and needs;
- (ii) sharing that data with the Union; and
- (iii) exploring the possibility of changes to the current group benefit plan and/or an alternative group benefit plan that would better meet the needs of the Agency and employees.

Dated at Toronto, Ontario this	day of _	, 2024	
For the Union:		For the Employer: Diane Daley Diane Daley (Aug 16, 2024 15:00 EDT)	
Jennifer Dantas Jennifer Dantas Jennifer Dantas (Aug 6, 2024 16:53 EDT)		Frances Lesick Frances Lesick (Aug 19, 2024 11:48 EDT)	
Linda j barstow linda j barstoW (Aug 6, 2024 17:20 EDT)		NIWY	
Milaina		Cmorshedi	
Jayson Dela Cruz (Aug 6, 2024 17:54 EDT)		JPersaud (Aug 19, 2024 14:30 EDT)	
SUB GYEBNE sue greene (Aug 6, 2024 18:01 EDT)			
Ade Mustapha Ade Mustapha (Aug 6, 2024 18:12 EDT)			

Appendix A

PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT

The Agreement made this	day of	20	_ BETWEEN

Family Day Care Services (the "Employer")

- and -

MULTI-SECTOR PENSION PLAN BY ITS TRUSTEES (the "Trustees")

In consideration of the Employer becoming a participating employer, commencing January 1st 2005, in the Multi-Sector Pension Plan ("MSPP" or the "Plan"), by making contributions to the Plan in accordance with the collective agreement ("Collective Agreement") between the Employer and Local 2563 of the Canadian Union of Public Employees (the "Union"), and in consideration of the Trustees making benefits in accordance with the Plan available to the employees of the Employer on whose behalf contributions are being made, the parties agree as follows:

- 1. The Employer shall make contributions to the Plan in accordance with the terms of the Collective Agreement, failing which the Trustees or Union may take action to collect such amounts owing pursuant to the grievance and arbitration procedures under the Collective Agreement or in any other forum having jurisdiction to enforce this Participation Agreement. If the Employer is delinquent in its contribution payments, the Employer shall pay the Trustees for any related losses or costs, including interest, liquidated damages and costs in accordance with the provisions of this Participation Agreement and the Agreement and Declaration of Trust dated January 1, 2002, as amended ("Declaration of Trust") in respect of the Plan.
- 2. The Employer agrees to be bound by the terms of the Agreement and Declaration of Trust in respect of the Multi-Sector Pension Plan and the rules and regulations of the Plan adopted by the Trustees of the Plan, both as may be amended from time to time. The Trustees will provide to the Employer, at its request, a copy of the Declaration of Trust and any subsequent amendments as they are made.
- 3. Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 2 of this Participation Agreement, the financial obligations of the Employer shall in no event exceed the obligation to make contributions as set out in the Collective Agreement, together with interest, plus damages and costs for which the Employer may be liable relating to a delinquency in making contributions to the Plan pursuant to the Declaration of Trust and Collective Agreement.
- 4. The Employer has no obligation to provide the benefits established by the Plan beyond the obligation to make contributions pursuant to the Collective Agreement. In the event that at any time the Plan does not have sufficient assets to permit continued payments under the

Plan, nothing contained in the Collective Agreement, Plan or this Participation Agreement or the Declaration of Trust shall be construed as obligating the Employer to make contributions other than contributions for which the Employer is obligated by the Collective Agreement. It is understood that there shall be no liability upon the Employer, Union or the Trustees to provide the benefits established by the Plan if the Plan does not have sufficient assets to make such benefit payments and that the Trustees have the authority to amend benefits, if necessary or advisable.

5. The Employer agrees to provide to the Administrator of the Plan, on a timely basis, all information required pursuant to the *Pension Benefits Act*, R.S.O. 1990, Ch. P-8, as amended, and any additional information which may be required by the applicable legislation for an Employer located in a province other than Ontario which the Administrator may reasonably require in order to properly record and process pension contributions and pension benefits.

For further specificity, the information required for each Eligible Employee is as follows:

(a) To be Provided at Plan Commencement

Date of hire:

Date of birth:

Social Insurance Number;

Date of first contribution;

Seniority list to include hours from date of hire to Employers' Fund entry date;

Gender.

(b) To be Provided with each Remittance

Name:

Social Insurance Number:

Monthly remittance broken down by employer and employee contributions;

Applicable Wages:

Year to date contributions broken down by employer and employee contributions;

Employer portion of arrears owing due to error, or late enrolment by the Employer.

(c) To be Provided Initially and as Status Changes

Full address;

Termination date where applicable (YYYY/MM/DD);

Marital status:

Date of death (if applicable).

(d) To be Provided Annually but no later than December 31

Current complete address list for all Eligible Employees; Period(s) of absence due to illness or disability, including WSIB;

Collective Agreement Family Day Care Services & CUPE Local 2563 Expiry: December 31, 2026

Period(s) of layoff, while subject to recall;

Period(s) of absence for pregnancy or parental leave; period(s) of strike or lockout; Other leaves of absence;

Hours worked by employees covered by the collective agreement who are not yet eligible employees, in the month and cumulatively since their date of hire.

6. All personal information about employees provided to the Administrator of the Plan pursuant to section 5 of this Agreement and/or the provisions of the Collective Agreement will be treated as Confidential Information. Except as required by law, Confidential Information will only be disclosed to the Trustees, employees of the Administrator, a service provider retained by the Trustees, the individual to whom the Confidential information pertains or a representative of that individual who has been authorized in writing. The Confidential Information is also subject to the provisions of the MSPP's Privacy Statement. The Trustees will provide to the Employer, at its request, a copy of the MSPP's Privacy Statement.

EMPLOYER:	
Frances Lesick Frances Lesick (Aug 19, 2024 11:48 EDT)	
Authorized Signature	Authorized Signature
MULTI-SECTOR PENSION PLAN,	BY ITS TRUSTEES
Heather Murray (Aug 6, 2024 11:43 EDT)	
Authorized Signature	Authorized Signature

CA_Family_Day_Care_Services_L2563_For signing_Expiry_2026_12_31

Final Audit Report 2024-08-19

Created: 2024-08-06

By: Marya Bondarets (mbondarets@cupe.ca)

Status: Signed

Transaction ID: CBJCHBCAABAAKpt1iJo5jvMR8gNx9fpz5FDMnrlj0muR

"CA_Family_Day_Care_Services_L2563_For signing_Expiry_202 6_12_31" History

- Document created by Marya Bondarets (mbondarets@cupe.ca) 2024-08-06 2:01:28 PM GMT
- Document emailed to hmurray@cupe.ca for signature 2024-08-06 2:27:28 PM GMT
- Email viewed by hmurray@cupe.ca 2024-08-06 3:18:55 PM GMT
- Signer hmurray@cupe.ca entered name at signing as Heather Murray 2024-08-06 3:43:27 PM GMT
- Document e-signed by Heather Murray (hmurray@cupe.ca)
 Signature Date: 2024-08-06 3:43:29 PM GMT Time Source: server
- Document emailed to dantasjennifer@yahoo.com for signature 2024-08-06 3:43:32 PM GMT
- Email viewed by dantasjennifer@yahoo.com 2024-08-06 8:51:20 PM GMT
- Signer dantasjennifer@yahoo.com entered name at signing as Jennifer Dantas 2024-08-06 8:52:59 PM GMT
- Document e-signed by Jennifer Dantas (dantasjennifer@yahoo.com)
 Signature Date: 2024-08-06 8:53:01 PM GMT Time Source: server
- Document emailed to lbarstow@familydaycare.com for signature 2024-08-06 8:53:05 PM GMT



- Email viewed by lbarstow@familydaycare.com 2024-08-06 9:17:25 PM GMT
- Signer lbarstow@familydaycare.com entered name at signing as linda j barstow 2024-08-06 9:20:20 PM GMT
- Document e-signed by linda j barstow (lbarstow@familydaycare.com)
 Signature Date: 2024-08-06 9:20:22 PM GMT Time Source: server
- Document emailed to kam0107@hotmail.com for signature 2024-08-06 9:20:24 PM GMT
- Email viewed by kam0107@hotmail.com 2024-08-06 9:48:58 PM GMT
- Signer kam0107@hotmail.com entered name at signing as Kam Dhaliwal 2024-08-06 9:51:09 PM GMT
- Document e-signed by Kam Dhaliwal (kam0107@hotmail.com)
 Signature Date: 2024-08-06 9:51:11 PM GMT Time Source: server
- Document emailed to jangelo.delacruz@gmail.com for signature 2024-08-06 9:51:13 PM GMT
- Email viewed by jangelo.delacruz@gmail.com 2024-08-06 9:52:56 PM GMT
- Signer jangelo.delacruz@gmail.com entered name at signing as Jayson Dela Cruz 2024-08-06 9:54:00 PM GMT
- Document e-signed by Jayson Dela Cruz (jangelo.delacruz@gmail.com)
 Signature Date: 2024-08-06 9:54:02 PM GMT Time Source: server
- Document emailed to greenersue@gmail.com for signature 2024-08-06 9:54:04 PM GMT
- Email viewed by greenersue@gmail.com 2024-08-06 9:59:24 PM GMT
- Signer greenersue@gmail.com entered name at signing as sue greene 2024-08-06 10:01:16 PM GMT
- Document e-signed by sue greene (greenersue@gmail.com)
 Signature Date: 2024-08-06 10:01:18 PM GMT Time Source: server
- Document emailed to ade.oseki@yahoo.ca for signature 2024-08-06 10:01:25 PM GMT



- Email viewed by ade.oseki@yahoo.ca 2024-08-06 10:08:47 PM GMT
- Signer ade.oseki@yahoo.ca entered name at signing as Ade Mustapha 2024-08-06 10:12:43 PM GMT
- Document e-signed by Ade Mustapha (ade.oseki@yahoo.ca)
 Signature Date: 2024-08-06 10:12:45 PM GMT Time Source: server
- Document emailed to ddaley@familydaycare.com for signature 2024-08-06 10:12:48 PM GMT
- Email viewed by ddaley@familydaycare.com 2024-08-13 4:12:41 PM GMT
- Email viewed by ddaley@familydaycare.com 2024-08-16 1:59:32 PM GMT
- New document URL requested by ddaley@familydaycare.com 2024-08-16 2:00:30 PM GMT
- Signer ddaley@familydaycare.com entered name at signing as Diane Daley 2024-08-16 3:00:32 PM GMT
- Document e-signed by Diane Daley (ddaley@familydaycare.com)
 Signature Date: 2024-08-16 3:00:34 PM GMT Time Source: server
- Document emailed to flesick@familydaycare.com for signature 2024-08-16 3:00:37 PM GMT
- Email viewed by flesick@familydaycare.com 2024-08-19 3:37:25 PM GMT
- Signer flesick@familydaycare.com entered name at signing as Frances Lesick 2024-08-19 3:48:33 PM GMT
- Document e-signed by Frances Lesick (flesick@familydaycare.com)
 Signature Date: 2024-08-19 3:48:35 PM GMT Time Source: server
- Document emailed to Nicole Lewis (nlewis@familydaycare.com) for signature 2024-08-19 3:48:39 PM GMT
- Email viewed by Nicole Lewis (nlewis@familydaycare.com)
 2024-08-19 4:10:38 PM GMT
- Document e-signed by Nicole Lewis (nlewis@familydaycare.com)
 Signature Date: 2024-08-19 4:11:16 PM GMT Time Source: server

Adobe Acrobat Sign

- Document emailed to Elly Morshedi (emorshedi@familydaycare.com) for signature 2024-08-19 4:11:24 PM GMT
- Email viewed by Elly Morshedi (emorshedi@familydaycare.com) 2024-08-19 6:14:55 PM GMT
- Document e-signed by Elly Morshedi (emorshedi@familydaycare.com)
 Signature Date: 2024-08-19 6:18:41 PM GMT Time Source: server
- Document emailed to jpersaud@familydaycare.com for signature 2024-08-19 6:18:45 PM GMT
- Email viewed by jpersaud@familydaycare.com 2024-08-19 6:20:22 PM GMT
- Signer jpersaud@familydaycare.com entered name at signing as JPersaud 2024-08-19 6:30:54 PM GMT
- Document e-signed by JPersaud (jpersaud@familydaycare.com)
 Signature Date: 2024-08-19 6:30:56 PM GMT Time Source: server
- Agreement completed. 2024-08-19 - 6:30:56 PM GMT